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RELIEF SOUGHT

Volkswagen Group of America, Inc. (VWGo0A) filed a motion to dismiss or
transfer the district-court case for improper venue.! The district court denied the
motion, ruling that venue was properly laid in the Western District of Texas because
independently owned Volkswagen- and Audi-brand dealers—although not VWGoA
itself—have places of business in the district.

VWGoA seeks an order vacating the district court’s denial of VWGo0A’s
motion and instructing the district court either to dismiss the action or to transfer it
to the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan.

ISSUE PRESENTED

This petition presents the issue of whether a place of business of an
independently owned automotive dealership, to whom an auto manufacturer or U.S.
distributor sells vehicles that are in turn sold by the dealer to customers, is a place of
business of the manufacturer/distributor for the purposes of the patent venue statue,
28 U.S.C. §1400(b). At least two district courts have, in comprehensively reasoned

opinions, decided that a dealership is not the distributor’s own place of business. The

! VWGoA previously sought a writ of mandamus seeking either
dismissal/transfer or a stay of the district court proceedings pending the
district court’s decision on VWGO0A’s venue motion, which was denied
because the district judge had pledged to decide the venue issue before holding
a Markman hearing. Case No. 2021-149 (Fed. Cir. June 29, 2021).

_1-
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only contrary decision of which Petitioner is aware (other than the ruling in this and

a companion case) is a vacated ruling from the Eastern District of Texas.

There is plainly a conflict between, on the one hand, the United States District

Court for the Southern District of California and the United States District Court for

the Northern District of Georgia, and, on the other hand, the Western District of

Texas. Interlocutory review by this Court will resolve the split between the district

courts, an important consideration given the frequency with which this exact issue

arises.?

2

Seven motions on this issue are known to be pending in district court right now.
See Arigna Tech. Ltd. v. Bayerische Motoren Werke AG, No. 2:21-cv-00172
(E.D. Tex.), D.I. 25 (Defendant BMW of North America, LLC’s Motion to
Dismiss for Improper Venue); id., D.I. 50 (Defendant VWGo0A’s Motion to
Dismiss for Improper Venue); id., D.I. 56 (Defendant American Honda Motor
Co., Inc.’s Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue), Arigna Tech. Ltd. v.
Volkswagen AG, No. 2:21-cv-00054 (E.D. Tex.), D.I. 85 (Defendant BMW of
North America, LLC’s Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue); id., D.I. 91
(Defendant Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC’s Motion to Dismiss for Improper
Venue); id., D.I. 138 (Defendant VWGo0A’s Motion to Dismiss for Improper
Venue); Arigna Tech. Ltd. v. Daimler AG, No. 2:21-cv-00175 (E.D. Tex.), D.L.
32 (Defendant Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC’s Motion to Dismiss for Improper
Venue).
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FACTS NECESSARY TO UNDERSTAND THE ISSUE PRESENTED

VWGoA does not sell vehicles or services to consumers in the Western
District of Texas. It is a distributor. It has no employees or documents in the Western
District. It has no real estate in the Western District, owned or leased. It does not
own any Volkswagen- or Audi-brand vehicles that are sold in the Western District,
and it keeps no inventory there. VWGo0A’s relationship with the Western District is
no different or more significant than its relationship with any other district, and
considerably less significant than its relationship with other districts where it does
have places of business.® See Appx0019-Appx0021. All these facts are uncontested.

The contracts between VWGo0A and authorized Volkswagen- and Audi-brand
dealers allegedly have various requirements with which the dealers must comply. As
the district court wrote:

Volkswagen’s alleged control over its dealers include:
(1) the dealers’ premises and facilities and their use and
maintenance;*! (2) the dealers’ use of Volkswagen
trademarks and trade names in advertising and marketing;
(3) the price and terms upon which its dealers purchase its
vehicles; (4) the dealers’ inventory of vehicles and parts;

(5) the terms and scope of warranties to be included in its
vehicle sales, the manner in which its dealers provide

3 E.g., VWGOA does have a place of business in the Eastern District of Michigan.

Appx. 0021 (Hahn Decl., § 11).

It is unclear what alleged control the district court was referring to in the item
numbered 1, if not the facts described in items 2-9. For clarity, VWGoA notes
that it does not own or lease the dealers’ premises (or any other real estate in the
District), and has no control over those premises.

_3-
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notice and advertise such warranties, and the rate or price
at which a Volkswagen or Audi dealer will be reimbursed
for services; (6) monthly reporting from the dealers of
their finances and operations; (7) the IT equipment such as
computers that its dealers must use and maintain; (8) the
number of personnel that its dealers must have on site and
their certifications and training; (9) performance reviews
on the dealers’ sales, service, and parts, customer
satisfaction, and even the dealer’s maintenance of its
premises and facilities; and (10) restricting whether and to
whom a dealer may sell or transfer its business.

Appx0005—-Appx0006.
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REASONS WHY THIS WRIT SHOULD ISSUE

I. Mandamus is Appropriate on this Improper-Venue Issue

A petition for mandamus should be granted when three conditions are
satisfied:

i.  the petitioner must have a clear and undisputable right to issuance of the
writ (that is, the correctness of the petitioner’s position on the merits must
be apparent),

il.  the petitioner must have no adequate alternative route to the desired relief
(e.g., post-judgment appeal must be an insufficient remedy), and
ii1.  issuance of the writ must be appropriate under the circumstances.
Cheney v. U.S. Dist. Ct. for D.C., 542 U.S. 367, 380-381 (2004).

In the context of orders denying transfer pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1404(a), the
second factor—lack of alternative routes to relief—is “certainly satisfied,” because
the petitioner in such a case will have great difficulty in avoiding the harmless-error
rule by showing that the trial result would have been different in a more convenient
forum. In re Volkswagen of Am., Inc., 545 F.3d 304, 318-319 (5th Cir. 2008). Thus,
this Court has ruled that in the context of § 1404(a),

the test for mandamus essentially reduces to the first
factor, given that the possibility of an appeal in the
transferee forum following a final judgment is not an

adequate alternative, and that an erroneous transfer may
result in judicially sanctioned irreparable procedural

injury.
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In re Apple Inc., 979 F.3d 1332, 1336-37 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (quotation marks and
ellipses omitted).

Exactly the same analysis should apply in the context of improper, as opposed
to merely inconvenient, venue. If the case proceeds to judgment in the wrong venue,
a post-judgment appeal of the venue decision “is not an adequate alternative,” id.,
regardless of whether it is the patent venue statute or the convenience factors of
§ 1404(a) that causes venue to be improperly laid. The wrong venue is the wrong
venue.

The Supreme Court approves of the use of mandamus in the improper-venue
context. See TC Heartland LLC v. Kraft Foods Grp. Brands LLC, 137 S.Ct. 1514
(2017). This Court also has granted mandamus several times to correct an improper-
venue decision. See In re Google, 949 F.3d 1338 (Fed. Cir. 2020); In re ZTE (USA),
Inc., 890 F.3d 1008 (Fed. Cir. 2018); In re BigCommerce, Inc., 890 F.3d 978 (Fed.
Cir. 2018); In re Micron, 875 F.3d 1091; In re Cray Inc., 871 F.3d 1355, 1358-60
(Fed. Cir. 2017).

The traditional role of mandamus has been described to be confining a district
court to its prescribed “jurisdiction.” Cheney, 542 U.S. at 380. But in considering
the appropriateness of mandamus, “courts have not confined themselves to an
arbitrary and technical definition of ‘jurisdiction.’” In re Micron Tech., Inc., 875

F.3d at 1095 (quoting Cheney, 542 U.S. at 380); see also, e.g., 14D Charles Alan
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Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 3801 (4th ed.) (“Venue
laws give added protection to defendants beyond those provided by the statutory and
constitutional prerequisites of personal jurisdiction.”)

In addition to the three-factor test discussed above, mandamus is also
appropriate when it presents “issues important to proper judicial administration,” or
when there is “uncertainty” or a “need for greater uniformity” on a legal issue. In re
Cray, 871 F.3d at 1358-59.° In this case, as explained more fully below, district
courts in Georgia and California have held that automotive dealerships are not the
manufacturer’s or distributor’s place of business, while two district courts in Texas
in three cases have held the opposite (one of those decisions was later vacated; one

is a companion case to this one; this case is the third).® Moreover, at least seven

> Compare In re Google, No. 2018-152, 2018 WL 5536478, at *2 (Fed. Cir. Oct.
29, 2018) (denying mandamus for lack of “basic, unsettled, recurring legal issues
over which there is considerable litigation producing disparate results”), with In
re Google, 949 F.3d 1338 (Fed. Cir. 2020) (granting mandamus in part because
of six conflicting district-court decisions on patent-venue issues).

¢ Compare Blitzsafe Tex., LLC v. BMW of N. Am., LLC, No. 2:17-cv-00418-JRG,
2018 WL 4849345 (E.D. Tex. Sep. 6, 2018), vacated by Blitzsafe Tex. LLC v.
Mitsubishi Elec. Corp., No. 2:17-cv-00430-JRG, 2019 WL 3494359 (E.D. Tex.,
Aug. 1, 2019), with Omega Pats., LLC v. Bayerische Motoren Weke AG, 508 F.
Supp. 3d 1336, 1340-41 (N.D. Ga. 2020), and West View Rsch., LLC v. BMW of
N. Am., LLC, 16-cv-2590 JLS (AGS), No. 2018 WL 4367378 (S.D. Cal. Feb. 5,
2018).
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venue motions on the same issue are pending.” This Court’s review is necessary to
provide uniformity and to discourage forum shopping.

II. The District Court’s Decision that Venue is Proper is Indisputably
Wrong

The sole basis for the district court’s decision that venue is proper is the
presence of Volkswagen- and Audi-brand dealers in the Western District of Texas.
Two district courts outside of Texas have considered the same situation and
concluded that automotive dealerships are not places of business for corporations
that supply those dealers with vehicles to sell. Omega, 508 F. Supp. 3d 1336; West
View, 2018 WL 4367378. Those two courts correctly applied the “place of business”
requirement, while the district court in this case did not.

Notably, the district court in this case relied exclusively on the vacated
Blitzsafe opinion, which found venue proper for an auto manufacturer/distributor

based on the presence of dealerships in the Eastern District of Texas. The district

" Arigna Tech. Ltd. v. Bayerische Motoren Werke AG, No. 2:21-cv-00172 (E.D.
Tex. ), D.I. 25 (Defendant BMW of North America, LLC’s Motion to Dismiss
for Improper Venue); id., D.I. 50 (Defendant VWGo0A’s Motion to Dismiss for
Improper Venue); id., D.I. 56 (Defendant American Honda Motor Co., Inc.’s
Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue); Arigna Tech. Ltd. v. Volkswagen AG,
No. 2:21-cv-00054 (E.D. Tex. May 3, 2020), D.1. 85 (Defendant BMW of North
America, LLC’s Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue); id., D.I. 91 (Defendant
Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC’s Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue); id., D.I.
138 (Defendant VWGo0A’s Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue); Arigna
Tech. Ltd. v. Daimler AG, No. 2:21-cv-00175 (E.D. Tex.), D.I. 32 (Defendant
Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC’s Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue).

_8-
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court’s opinion makes no effort to distinguish the Omega and West View cases.
Indeed, the district court’s only reference to the Omega and West View opinions was
to dismiss VWGo0A'’s citations to those cases as “conclusory statements that two
other district courts’ rulings are right (because they are in its favor) and a third
court’s ruling is wrong (because it is not in its favor).” Appx0008. The district court
ignored, for example, that in its opening brief VWGoA pointed out that the Omega
court explicitly considered, and explicitly rejected, the Blitzsafe opinion upon which
the district court wrongly relied in this case.

In reaching its incorrect conclusion, the district court made two errors. First,
the district court wrongly held that VWGOoA has ratified the dealerships as its own
place of business. Appx0004—Appx0008. Second, the district court wrongly held
that the dealers are agents of VWGoA. Appx0008—Appx0010. Those two holdings
were independent prerequisites to the district court’s venue decision; under the
district court’s reasoning, if either one is wrong, the venue decision is wrong.
Appx0003 at n.1 (“this court treats the Google requirement [of “the regular, physical
presence of an employee or other agent of the defendant conducting the defendant’s

business™] as a fourth requirement in addition to the three Cray requirements™).’

8 Google’s requirement that at least one of the defendant’s employees or agents be

present at the alleged place of business could also be read as a necessary, but not
sufficient, component of the third Cray factor (that the place of business must be

the defendant’s own, see Cray at 1363). 949 F.3d at 1344. Regardless of how the
tests are characterized, it is clear that (i) per Google, the defendant must have an

_9.
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A. VWGoA Has Not Ratified the Dealerships as Its Own Place of
Business

In its Cray opinion, this Court held that for venue to be proper, “the defendant
must establish or ratify the place of business.” 871 F.3d at 1363. There appears to be
no dispute that VWGoA did not establish the dealerships. Instead, the district court
found that VWGoA had ratified the dealerships as its own place of business.
Appx0004—-Appx0008.

There is no question in this case that VWGo0A and the dealers are separate
corporations, not alter egos.’ Instead, the district court based its ratification finding
on a combination of three theories: (1) that VWGoA “exercises control over the
dealerships’ places,” Appx0005; (2) that VWGOA can disapprove of dealers’
decisions to change locations, Appx0006; and (3) that VWGoA “represents to the
public that it has a place of business” in the district, Appx0006.

The district court referred to, but did not consider, what it identified as the

fourth Cray factor: “the nature and activity of the alleged place of business of the

employee or agent at the place, and (i1) per Cray, the place must be “a place of
the defendant,” Cray at 1363 (emphasis in original).

? See Andra Grp., LP v. Victoria’s Secret Stores, L.L.C., 6 F.4th 1283, 1289
(Fed. Cir. 2021) (“[W]here related companies have maintained corporate
separateness, the place of business of one corporation is not imputed to the other
for venue purposes.”).

-10 -
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defendant in the district in comparison with that of the other places of business of
the defendant in other venues.” Appx0004.1°

1. VWGoA Does Not Control the Dealers’ Places of Business

At the outset, venue clearly “is not one of those vague principles which, in the
interests of some overriding policy, is to be given a liberal construction.” Cray, 871
F.3d at 1361 (quoting Schnell v. Peter Eckrich & Sons, Inc., 365 U.S. 260, 264
(1961)). The point of enacting the patent-venue statute was “to eliminate the abuses
engendered by previous venue provisions allowing such suits to be brought in any
district in which the defendant could be served.” Id. (internal quotation marks
omitted). For that reason, merely doing business in the district (as VWGO0A is alleged
to do) does not give rise to patent venue. As this Court further advised in Cray:

Courts should be mindful of this history in applying the
statute and be careful not to conflate showings that may be
sufficient for other purposes, e.g., personal jurisdiction or
the general venue statute, with the necessary showing to
establish proper venue in patent cases. ... “[T]he regular
and established place of business standard requires

more than the minimum contacts necessary for
establishing personal jurisdiction or for satisfying the

10" This ignored fourth factor weighs heavily in favor of VWGoA, which certainly
does maintain places of business elsewhere that are actually its own, e.g., its
customer relations and after-sales support center in the Eastern District of
Michigan. Appx0021 ( 11). VWGoA has places of business in other districts as
well, e.g., a factory in Chattanooga that sits on 1,400 acres and comprises almost
3.5 million square feet, see https://www.volkswagengroupofamerica.com/en-
us/chattanooga-facts (last visited on Oct. 19, 2021), and an Innovation and
Engineering Center in Belmont, California, see https://vwiecc.com (last visited
on October 28, 2021).

“11 -
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doing business standard of the general venue
provision, 28 U.S.C. § 1391(c).”

Id. (emphasis added).

The district court listed ten alleged facts to support its holding that VWGoA
has ratified the dealerships as its own places of business. Appx0005-Appx0006.'!
But none of those ten facts has to do with whether VWGoA controls the dealers’
places of business, i.e., “whether the defendant owns or leases the place, or exercises
other attributes of possession or control over the place.” Appx0004 (quoting Cray,
871 F.3d at 1362). For example, there is no doubt that VWGoA employees would
be trespassing if they entered one of the dealerships uninvited at a time when it is
closed to the public. VWGO0A does not control those places.

What VWGoA allegedly controls, as the district court describes, are various
aspects of how the dealers go about their businesses. A dealer allegedly must have a
suitable facility in an approved location,'> must maintain a suitable inventory of
vehicles and parts, and, e.g., must have a suitable number of properly trained

employees. See Appx0005—Appx0006. These quality controls—for which VWGoA

1" Again, it is unclear what alleged control the district court was referring to in the

item numbered 1, if not the facts described in items 2-9. For clarity, VWGoA
notes that it does not own or lease the dealers’ premises (or any other real estate
in the District), and has no control over those premises.

12 Merely approving a dealer’s location is not ratifying that place as a VWGoA

facility, as opposed to the dealer’s own facility. Approving the location does not
communicate to the public that the dealer’s place of business is VWGO0A’s.
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allegedly contracts in concert with licensing Volkswagen trademarks to the
dealers—do not indicate control of the dealers’ places as the venue statute requires.

In Andra, this Court considered whether venue was proper based on assertions
that “Non-Store Defendants” (like VWGoA) ratified as their own places of business
the locations of the “Stores” defendant (like the dealers) through their control of the
Stores. See Andra, 6 F.4th at 1289-90.'* Applying Cray, this Court rejected Andra’s
theory of ratification even though Andra argued: (i) “the Non-Store Defendants
maintain a ‘unified business model’ with Stores,” (i1) “the entities work together in
some aspects,” (ii1) the entities share the use of Victoria Secret trademarks, (iv) one
of the Non-Store Defendants has “control over store operations,” and (v) one of the
Non-Store Defendants holds “out store locations as its own” and “direct[s]
customers to store locations using the ‘Find a Store’ feature.” Id. According to the
Court, “Andra has not shown that the Non-Store Defendants actually engage in
business at Stores locations.” Id.

Similarly, in Omega, the United States District Court for the Northern District
of Georgia considered facts almost identical to the facts in this case. Compare

Omega, 508 F. Supp. 3d at 133943, with Appx0005—Appx0006. It concluded that

3 VWGoA cited the Andra opinion to the district court as supplemental authority
on August 10, more than a month before the district court issued its venue
decision. The district court did not cite Andra in its opinion.
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a distributor of BMW vehicles did not ratify the locations of its dealerships. Omega,
508 F. Supp. 3d at 134041 (noting that the Federal Circuit did not intend “its Cray
holding to be interpreted so broadly as to encompass independent entities in the
absence of an alter-ego relationship”). That was despite the following facts: (i) the
distributor’s “business and marketing efforts are intertwined with the dealerships,”
and (i1) “[cJommon insignia and logos are displayed, website links are created,
marketing strategies are dispatched, and agreements are executed all to ultimately
facilitate the sale of BMW-branded vehicles to customers.” Id. at 1342. Omega also
held that “common marketing strategies and some modicum of control over the
dealerships’ macro-level operations” by the distributor did not “transform [the
dealerships’] location into [the distributor’s] own places of business.” Id. at 1343.
Similarly, in West View, the United States District Court for the Southern
District of California considered BMW’s arrangements with its dealerships and
reached the same conclusion as the Omega court. 2018 WL 4367378. As in Omega,
the West View court considered facts that are highly similar to those at issue here,
including “at least thirty examples of [the distributor’s] control” of its dealerships
and that the distributor “prominently advertises” its brand in the dealerships. /d. at
*7-8 (collecting cases, and holding that “[t]his theory ignores the separate corporate
forms of Defendants and the dealerships™); see also Reflection, LLC v. Spire

Collective LLC, No. 17-cv-1603-GPC(BGS), 2018 WL 310184, at *2 (S.D. Cal. Jan.
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5, 2018) (“[D]istributors and even subsidiaries, that are independently owned and
operated, that are located in the forum and work with the accused infringer, [are] not
sufficient to show that the accused infringer has a regular and established business
under § 1400(b).”).

The same logic applies here. But the district court failed to consider any factor
beyond its finding that “Volkswagen boasts a broad scope of de facto control over

b

its dealerships,” ignoring the factors that weighed against ratification in Andra,
Omega, and West View. Appx0005—Appx0006. For example, as in Andra:
* VWGo0A does not own or lease the locations of the dealerships in the
District, Appx0020 (Hahn Decl., 9§ 4),
* the dealerships lease and perform all operations at their locations, id., 9 5,
7,9, 10,
* the dealerships have a different business function than VWGoA (the
dealerships sell automobiles that they own to consumers, whereas VWGoA
is responsible for distribution and some marketing, id., 9 8, 9, 10),
* VWGoA’s website identifies the dealerships’ locations as such (and not as

its own, as the district court found, Appx007; see also Appx0025 (Compl.,

9 12 (“[T]he websites can . . . identify a franchised dealer in their area.”)),

- 15 -



Case: 22-108 Document: 2-1 Page: 24 Filed: 11/01/2021

* VWGoA does not display its legal name (Volkswagen Group of America,
Inc.) at the dealerships’ locations, Appx0024-0026 (Compl., 911
(“[D]ealerships . . . display Volkswagen . . . trademarks[.]”); and
* the dealerships’ use of Volkswagen trademarks and branding does not
detract from the separateness of the business.
See Andra, 6 F.4th at 1289-90. 4
Overall, the district court failed to give “reasoned consideration to all relevant
factors or attributes of the relationship” between VWGoA and its dealerships. /d.

2. VWGoA’s Alleged Right to Veto Ownership or Location
Does Not Show Ratification

In support of its holding that venue is proper, the district court found that
“Defendant’s relationship with the dealerships is conditioned on the dealerships’

continued presence in this District.” Appx0006. This refers to a quality-control

4 Many other courts have found no venue even when separate and distinct
corporate relatives shared a common trademark. See Bd. of Regents v. Medtronic
PLC, No. A-17-CV-0942-LY, 2018 WL 4179080, at *2 (W.D. Tex. July 19,
2018) (finding no venue for Medtronic due to the presence of a “Medtronic” sign
on the exterior of a subsidiary’s building); Post Consumer Brands, LLC v. Gen.
Mills, Inc., No. 4:17-CV-2471-SNLJ, 2017 WL 4865936, at *2 (E.D. Mo. Oct.
27, 2017) (finding no venue over parent General Mills, Inc. in the district when
a subsidiary displayed a General Mills branded sign); Symbology Innovations,
LLC v. Lego Sys., 282 F. Supp. 3d 916, 930-33 (E.D. Va. 2017) (finding
subsidiary’s Lego brand stores in the district were insufficient for venue over
parent Lego Systems, Inc. absent a lack of formal corporate separateness);
Interactive Toybox v. Walt Disney Co., No. 1:17-CV-1137-RP, 2018 WL
5284625, at *3 (W.D. Tex. Oct. 24, 2018) (same for Disney retail stores).
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provision that allegedly gives VWGOA the general power to approve locations and
ownership; contrary to the implication in the language of the district court’s finding,
it has not been alleged that there are any district-based distinctions in VWGO0A’s
quality-control agreement with the dealers.

Merely approving a dealer’s location is not ratifying that place as a VWGoA
facility, as opposed to the dealer’s own facility, because approving the location does
not communicate to the public that the dealer’s place of business is VWGo0A’s.

The district court’s conclusion is implicitly linked to this Court’s instruction
in Cray that “[a]nother consideration might be whether the defendant conditioned
employment on an employee’s continued residence in the district or the storing of
materials at a place in the district so that they can be distributed or sold from that
place.” 871 F.3d at 1363; see also Appx0004. This instruction is a useful reminder
that, in its opinion, the Cray court was addressing the question of whether an
employee’s home office was a place of business of his employer. The obvious
difference in this case is that the dealers are not VWGoA employees. Although Cray
considered it important whether a defendant’s employees are required to work at a
particular place, that says nothing about whether it is important that VWGoA

allegedly has input into the location of its customers (the dealers).
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3. VWGoA Has Never Represented to the Public that It Has a
Place of Business in the District

The district court’s third and last argument is that VWGOoA “represents to the
public that it has a place of business in” the Western District. Appx0006.

The district court based its analysis on the VWGoA website, which directs
consumers to Volkswagen- and Audi-brand dealers, and on VWGo0A’s trademark
licenses that allow Volkswagen- and Audi-brand dealers to display Volkswagen
trademarks. But there is no allegation that VWGo0A ever approved a dealer’s sign
that read “Volkswagen Group of America”; instead, the dealers display various
Volkswagen trademarks, under license. Nor does the dealer-locator feature of
VWGoA’s website indicate that any dealer’s place of business is a VWGoA place
of business. Such allegations are insufficient to show that VWGoA ratified the
dealership’s locations as its own. See Omega, 508 F. Supp. 3d at 1342 (finding that
the distributor did not ratify the dealerships where “[cJommon insignia and logos are
displayed, website links are created, marketing strategies are dispatched, and
agreements are executed all to ultimately facilitate the sale of BMW-branded
vehicles to customers”); West View, 2018 WL 4367378, at *6 (same, where
distributor “prominently advertises the BMW brand at the dealerships”); see also
Andra, 6 F.4th at 1290 (finding no ratification where the distributor defendant did

“not display their corporate names in the retail locations™).
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As the district court correctly noted, an essential requirement under Cray for
ratification is that “the defendant . . . actually engage in business from [the] location”
in the district. Appx0007 (citing In re Cray, 871 F.3d at 1364). Allegedly applying
that requirement, the district court incorrectly found that “Volkswagen actually
conducts business from the locations of its dealerships in this District.” Appx0007.
The district court pointed to VWGo0A’s distribution of vehicles to the dealers, and to
the warranty services that the dealers provide and for which VWGoA reimburses
them. /d. The court also pointed to a Texas statute that says one who reimburses
warranty repair-service charges “is engaged in business in this state.” /d. (citing Tex.
Occ. Code § 2301.251(¢)).

This confuses jurisdiction with venue. Selling cars to dealers before they are
even delivered to the dealers is not doing business at the dealers’ locations. Those
sales from VWGoA to the independent dealers might create the minimum contacts
necessary for the district court to exercise personal jurisdiction over VWGoA, and
may constitute doing business in Texas, but minimum contacts is not the test for
venue. As this Court held in Cray, “the regular and established place of business
standard requires more than the minimum contacts necessary for establishing
personal jurisdiction or for satisfying the doing business standard of the general

venue provision, 28 U.S.C. § 1391(c).” 871 F.3d at 1361.
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Because VWGO0A has no employees, nor inventory, in the District, the district
court’s finding unreasonably expands the patent venue statute to cover the simple
act of shipping a product from one location outside a district (including from
overseas locations) to another inside the district. See Andra, 6 F.4th 1283 (finding
that a distributor based outside the district that distributed goods to stores in the
district did not itself engage in business in the district). The effect of such expansion
would be that distributors could be sued for patent infringement in any district in the
United States, so long as those distributors ship their products to those districts. This
result is inconsistent with the patent venue statute, which has no “remedial” purpose
and should be given a narrow construction. See In re Google, 949 F.3d at 1346.

Contrary to the district court’s clearly erroneous finding, VWGo0A does not
engage in distribution activities in the District. Appx0020 (Hahn Decl., 9 7-9).
VWGoA'’s employees who manage the distribution activities are not located in the
District. Id. And VWGoA does not own or keep an inventory of vehicles or parts at
warehouses or other facilities in the District. Id. (96, 8). See Andra, 6 F.4th 1283
(finding that a distributor based outside the district that distributed goods to stores
in the district did not itself engage in business in the district).

Reimbursing Texas dealers for warranty service charges, although it may be
considered doing business in the state of Texas and thus may give rise to personal

jurisdiction over VWGO0A, is not doing business at the dealerships for purposes of
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venue. Notably, VWGo0A has no employees at the dealerships. Appx0020 (Hahn
Decl., 4 7); cf. Google, 949 F.3d at 1345 (requiring the presence of employees as a
prerequisite for patent venue). The district court’s reliance on the Texas warranty
statute is especially inappropriate because, as this Court has repeatedly found, the
patent venue inquiry must be conducted under Federal Circuit law. See, e.g., In re
ZTE, 890 F.3d at 1012 (“Whether venue is proper under § 1400(b) is an issue unique
to patent law and is governed by Federal Circuit law.”).'?

Again, these are precisely the facts the Omega and West View courts explicitly
analyzed and found insufficient to support venue. See Omega, 508 F. Supp. 3d 1336;

West View, 2018 WL 4367378.

15 Merely offering a warranty for a product that third-party dealerships honor does
not transform independently owned and operated dealerships into VWGo0A’s
places of business or establish venue in this District. See Knapp-Monarch Co. v.
Casco Prods. Corp., 342 F.2d 622, 625 (7th Cir. 1965) (“[T]he fact that
[defendant’s] warranties against defective products were honored by its dealers
and its authorized repair station does not mean that the company had a regular
and established place of business.”); Omega, 508 F. Supp. 3d at 1343 (rejecting
plaintiff’s argument that providing new car warranty services at dealerships
establishes venue for the distributor); Zaxcom, Inc. v. Lectrosonics, Inc., No. 17-
CV-3408(NGG)(SJB), 2019 WL 418860, at *9 (E.D.N.Y. Feb. 1, 2019) (“The
facts here demonstrate that Defendant has contracted with Jaycee over a period
of years to provide non-exclusive repair and maintenance services on certain of
Defendant’s products, which have been purchased by customers through third-
party dealers, and which may or may not be under warranty. This does not,
without more, render Jaycee’s location a place of business of Defendant.”).
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B. The Dealers Are Not VWGo0A’s Agents

In assessing whether a party 1s the defendant’s agent for the purpose of patent
venue, this Court explained in Google that agency is a “fiduciary relationship that
arises when one person (a ‘principal’) manifests assent to another person (an ‘agent’)
that the agent shall act on the principal’s behalf and subject to the principal’s control,
and the agent manifests assent or otherwise consents to act.” In re Google, 949 F.3d
at 1345; see also Andra, 6 F.4th at 1287-88. Google also identified three “essential
elements of agency . . . (1) the principal’s right to direct or control the agent’s
actions, (2) the manifestation of consent by the principal to the agent that the agent
shall act on his behalf, and (3) the consent by the agent to act.” In re Google, 949
F.3d at 1345 (internal citations, quotations, and alterations omitted) (quoting Meyer
v. Holley, 537 U.S. 280, 286, 123 S.Ct. 824, 154 L.Ed.2d 753 (2003)).

The district court in this case focused its agency analysis on the contract-based
quality controls VWGoA allegedly has over Volkswagen- and Audi-brand dealers.
But VWGoA does not have “the right to direct or control” the dealerships, or the
dealerships’ employees, so as to create an agency relationship. In Andra, this Court
considered, and explicitly rejected, a similar argument. There, the distributor-
defendant was alleged to “closely control[] the distribution and sales of its products
exclusively available through store locations and [a] [w]ebsite.” Andra, 6 F.4th at

1288—-89 (applying Google, 949 F.3d at 1345, and holding that the distributor
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defendant’s “close control of its products and the website does not equate to ‘the
right to direct or control” employees at the physical [] locations in the [d]istrict.”).

Applying Andra, the dealerships clearly are not VWGO0A’s agents. See also
Herremans v. BMW of N. Am., LLC, No. CV 14-02363 MMM PJWX, 2014 WL
5017843, at *6 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 3, 2014) (holding that automotive “dealers are not
‘agents’ of manufacturers.”); Bushendorfv. Freightliner Corp., 13 F.3d 1024, 1026
(7th Cir. 1993) (noting an automobile dealer who “merely buys goods from
manufacturers or other suppliers for resale to the consuming public[] is not his
supplier’s agent”); Arnson v. Gen. Motors Corp., 377 F. Supp. 209, 212 (N.D. Ohio
1974) (“[T]he weight of authority . . . support[s] the view that a franchised
automobile dealer, with regard to the sale of new vehicles, is an independent
merchant and not an agent of the manufacturer.”).

The district court does not cite any legal authority finding otherwise. The two
cases cited that purportedly show “it is not uncommon for a district court to find a
principal-agency relationship between an auto manufacturer and its dealers” fail to
do so. Appx0009—Appx0010 (citing Morano v. BMW of N. Am., LLC, 928 F. Supp.
2d 826, 837-38 (D.N.J. 2013); Kent v. Celozzi-Ettleson Chevrolet, Inc., No. 99 C
2868, 1999 WL 1021044, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 3, 1999)). In Kent, on a Rule 12(b)(6)
motion to dismiss, the court refused to dismiss fraud-related claims against a vehicle

distributor even though it was “unlikely that [plaintiff] will be able to establish that
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[the distributor] made [the dealership] its agent with respect to the sale of extended
warranties, or that an apparent agency existed as that term is defined in the law,”
only because “it is not out of the question that she will be able to do so.” 1999 WL
1021044, at *4. In Morano, the court, also on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, did
not dismiss breach of service-contract claims against a vehicle distributor, finding
that a lack of privity between the distributor and the retail customer did not bar relief.
In the context of an allegation that the distributor directed the dealer to reject
warranty claims, the Morano court opined that “it stands to reason that the dealer
acted as [distributor’s] agent, or at least that the two acted together” in rejecting the
warranty claims, which is certainly not a general finding of agency with respect to
issuance of the warranty. 928 F. Supp. 2d at 838.!°

Further, no fiduciary relationship exists between VWGoA and the dealerships,
which is an essential element of agency. See ARA Auto. Grp. v. Cent. Garage, Inc.,
124 F.3d 720, 726 (5th Cir. 1997) (“No Texas case . . . has affirmed a fiduciary

obligation in the context of a franchisor-franchisee, manufacturer-distributor

16" Similarly, Stevens, another decision addressing a Rule 12(b)(6) motion on which
the district court relies, see Appx0009, did not find an agency relationship
between a vehicle distributor and a dealership. See Stevens v. Ford Motor Co.,
No. 2:18-CV-456, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 256298, *17-18 (S.D. Tex. Nov. 2,
2020) (noting “it is not—as a matter of law—impossible to find a specific agency
relationship” and further remarking that “dealership agency is not essential to
the Court’s disposition of the motion to dismiss™).
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relationship, or other transactional setting involving experienced managers.”);
Google, 949 F.3d at 1345 (noting the “agency relationship is a fiduciary
relationship”).

The district court held “the agreements between Volkswagen and its
dealerships clearly show that there is manifestation of consent by Volkswagen to the
dealerships that the dealerships shall act on Volkswagen’s behalf, and the consent
by the dealerships to act.” Appx0009. But this holding directly contradicts the
parties’ contractual relationship, which explicitly states the dealers are not
VWGoA'’s agents. Those agreements expressly and repeatedly disclaim agency,
another fact the district court failed to consider.!’

The district court also incorrectly stated that VWGoA “is in the business of

manufacturing and distributing vehicles to consumers.” Appx010. That is manifestly

17 See Appx0088 (Article 17(1)) (“Dealer Not Agent. Dealer will conduct all
Dealer’s Operations on its own behalf and for its own account. Dealer has no
power or authority to act for the Manufacturer or VW0A.”); Appx0137 (Article
17(1)) (same); Appx0167 (Article 17(1)) (same); Appx0071 (Article 8(6))
(“Dealer’s personnel are not employees, contractors or agents of VWOo0A.”);
Apx0119 (Article 8(6)) (same); Appx0153 (Article 8(6)) (same). Moreover,
automobile distributors are prohibited from entering into an agency relationship
with their franchise dealerships in Texas. See Ford Motor Co. v. Texas Dep’t of
Transp., 264 F.3d 493, 507 (5th Cir. 2001) (statute “provides that a manufacturer
may not directly or indirectly, operate or control a dealer or act in the capacity of
a dealer”); Tex. Occ. Code § 2301.476(c) (“[ A] manufacturer or distributor may
not directly or indirectly . . . operate or control . . . a franchised dealer or
dealership.”).
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untrue. VWGO0A is in the business of selling vehicles to dealers, not to consumers.
Appx0020 (Hahn Decl., 9 6, 8—10). As alleged in the complaint, “[o]n information
and belief, the Volkswagen Group’s new Volkswagen and Audi vehicles are
available for purchase through its authorized dealers only.” Appx0313 (Compl.,
9 10).

CONCLUSION

As the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas did in the
later-vacated Blitzsafe opinion—but contrary to the Omega and West View opinions
the district court did not analyze (and also contrary to this Court’s Andra decision,
which the district court also did not analyze)—the district court in this case
eviscerated the place-of-business requirement, conflated personal jurisdiction with
venue, and thus effected a tremendous expansion of the patent venue statute, which
was explicitly intended to be narrower than the set of districts where accused
infringers might be subject to jurisdiction, see, e.g., Cray, 871 F.3d at 1361. See,
e.g., Omega, 2020 WL 8184342 at *6 (“A finding that venue is proper in this District
... would, in this Court’s view, significantly expand the scope of § 1400(b).”).

If not corrected by this Court, the district court’s holding that selling products
to retailers who are licensed to use a manufacturer’s trademarks, identifying those
retailers on the manufacturer’s website, and reimbursing the retailers for warranty

repairs transforms the retailers’ places of business into the manufacturers’ own
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places of business means that manufacturers/distributors are subject to suit wherever
their customers (the retailers) are located. This reads the place-of-business restriction
out of the venue statute and, at least for manufacturers/distributors, invites the
“abuses engendered” by earlier law permitting patent defendants to be sued
wherever they are subject to service of process. See Cray, 871 F.3d at 1361 (quoting
Schnell, 365 U.S. at 262).

Each of the district court’s holdings (ratification and agency) is clearly wrong.
The Court should grant the petition, vacate the district court’s decision denying
VWGo0A’s motion to dismiss or transfer, and direct the district court to dismiss this
action or transfer it to the United States District Court for the Eastern District of
Michigan.

Respectfully submitted,

Dated: November 1, 2021 /s/ Mark Hannemann

Mark Hannemann

Thomas Makin

Eric Lucas

Ahmed ElDessouki
SHEARMAN & STERLING LLP
599 Lexington Avenue
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Attorneys for Petitioner Volkswagen Group
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

WACO DIVISION

STRATOSAUDIO, INC., §
Plaintiff §

§ 6:20-CV-01131-ADA
-Vs- §
§
VOLKSWAGEN GROUP OF AMERICA, §
INC., §
Defendant §

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Before the Court is Defendant Volkswagen Group of America, Inc.’s (“Volkswagen”) Rule
12(b)(3) Motion to dismiss or transfer for improper venue pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1400(b) and
1406(a). Dkt. 16. After careful consideration of the relevant facts, applicable law, and the parties’
briefs and oral arguments, the Court DENIES Volkwagen’s Motion.

I. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff StratosAudio, Inc. (“StratosAudio™) filed this action against Volkswagen on
December 11, 2020, asserting infringement of seven patents by Volkswagen’s vehicles with
certain infotainment systems. Dkt. 1. On February 19, 2021, Volkswagen moved to dismiss or
transfer the action for improper venue under Rule 12(b)(3). Dkt. 16.

StratosAudio is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Kirkland, Washington. Dkt. 1 at
1, 9 2. Volkswagen is a New Jersey corporation with its principal place of business in Herndon,
Virginia. /d. at 2, § 7. Volkswagen may be served through its registered agent for service in Austin,
Texas, within this District, and has been registered to do business in the State of Texas since at
least June 7, 1973. Id.

For propriety of venue, Plaintiff alleges that Volkswagen conducts its business of the

exclusive distribution of new Volkswagen and Audi automobiles to consumers in this District
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through its authorized dealers in Austin and Waco and exercises control over those dealerships.
Id. at 3-5, 9 10-14.
II. LEGAL STANDRD

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(3) allows a party to move to dismiss an action for
“improper venue.” FED. R. CIV. P. 12(b)(3). 12 U.S.C. § 1440(b) is the “sole and exclusive
provision controlling venue in patent infringement actions.” 7C Heartland LLC v. Kraft Foods
Group Brands LLC, 137 S. Ct. 1514, 1519 (2017). “Whether venue is proper under § 1400(b) is
an issue unique to patent law and is governed by Federal Circuit law,” rather than regional circuit
law. In re ZTE (USA) Inc., 890 F.3d 1008, 1012 (Fed. Cir. 2018). “[U]pon motion by the Defendant
challenging venue in a patent case, the Plaintiff bears the burden of establishing proper venue.” /d.
at 1013—14. Plaintiff may carry this burden by establishing facts that, if taken to be true, establish
proper venue. Castaneda v. Bradzoil, Inc., No. 1:20-CV-1039-RP, 2021 WL 1390423, at *1 (W.D.
Tex. Apr. 13, 2021). “On a Rule 12(b)(3) motion to dismiss for improper venue, the court must
accept as true all allegations in the complaint and resolve all conflicts in favor of the plaintiff.” /d.
(citing Braspetro Oil Servs. Co. v. Modec (USA), Inc., 240 F.App’x 612, 615 (5th Cir. 2007) (per
curiam)). In determining whether venue is proper, “the Court may look beyond the complaint to
evidence submitted by the parties.” Ambraco, Inc. v. Bossclib, B.V., 570 F.3d 233, 237-38 (5th
Cir. 2009).

Section 1400(b) provides that venue in patent cases is proper “[1] where the defendant
resides, or [2] where the defendant [a] has committed acts of infringement and [b] has a regular
and established place of business.” 28 U.S.C. § 1400(b). Under the first prong, the Supreme Court
has held that “a domestic corporation ‘resides’ only in its State of incorporation for purposes of

the patent venue statute.” 7C Heartland, 137 S. Ct. at 1517. Under the second prong, the Federal
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in this District and are “regular and established” under the first and second Cray requirements.
Therefore, the Court discusses below whether the third and fourth requirements are met in this
case to establish proper venue in this District.

A. Ratification

Under the third Cray requirement, a plaintiff must show that the place of business at issue
is “the place of the defendant.” In re Cray, 871 F.3d at 1360. To meet this requirement, “the
defendant must establish or ratify the place of business.” Id. at 1363. There is no bright-line rule
for this inquiry. /d. at 1362 (“In deciding whether a defendant has a regular and established place
of business in a district, no precise rule has been laid down and each case depends on its own
facts.”). The Federal Circuit set forth a number of considerations to determine whether the
defendant has ratified the place of business, including: (1) “whether the defendant owns or leases
the place, or exercises other attributes of possession or control over the place”; (2) “whether the
defendant conditioned employment on an employee’s continued residence in the district or the
storing of materials at a place in the district so that they can be distributed or sold from that place”;
(3) whether the defendant has made “representations that it has a place of business in the district”;
and (4) “the nature and activity of the alleged place of business of the defendant in the district in
comparison with that of other places of business of the defendant in other venues.” Id. at 1363-64.
These considerations are not exhaustive but are more illustrative in nature. Blitzsafe Texas, LLC v.
Bayerische Motoren Werke AG, No. 2:17-CV-00418-JRG, 2018 WL 4849345, at *6 (E.D. Tex.
Sept. 6, 2018).

More recently, the Federal Circuit found additional factors relevant to this analysis,
including: “the nature of [the defendant’s] relationship with [its] representatives [in the District],

99,

or whether it has any other form of control over any of them”; “whether [the defendant] possesses,

4
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99, <c

owns, leases, or rents the [facility] . . . or owns any of the equipment located there”; “whether any
signage on, about, or relating to the [facility] associates the space as belonging to [the defendant]”;
and “whether the location of the [facility] was specified by the defendant or whether [a third party]
would need permission from the defendant to move [the facility] outside of the . . . District or to

stop working for [the defendant].” In re ZTE (USA) Inc., 890 F.3d 1008, 1015-16 (Fed. Cir. 2018).

1. Defendant exercises control over the dealerships’ places in this District.

For this factor, Volkswagen’s main argument is a one-sentence statement in its Reply,
stating that it is “forbidden to ‘operate or control’ the dealerships” under Texas law. Dkt. 16 at 3—
4; Tex. Occ. Code § 2301.476(c) (“[A] manufacturer or distributor may not directly or indirectly .
. . operate or control . . . a franchised dealer or dealership.”). However, this does not mean that
Volkswagen does not exercise de facto control over the dealerships to some degree, nor does it
mean that the dealerships are not places of Volkswagen as a matter of law. See, e.g., Blitzsafe,
2018 WL 4849345, at *7.

As Plaintiff points out, Volkswagen controls numerous aspects of its dealerships’
operations through a number of agreements with its dealerships. Dkt. 22 at 8-15. Volkswagen’s
alleged control over its dealers include: (1) the dealers’ premises and facilities and their use and
maintenance; (2) the dealers’ use of Volkswagen trademarks and trade names in advertising and
marketing; (3) the price and terms upon which its dealers purchase its vehicles; (4) the dealers’
inventory of vehicles and parts; (5) the terms and scope of warranties to be included in its vehicle
sales, the manner in which its dealers provide notice and advertise such warranties, and the rate or
price at which a Volkswagen or Audi dealer will be reimbursed for services; (6) monthly reporting
from the dealers of their finances and operations; (7) the IT equipment such as computers that its

dealers must use and maintain; (8) the number of personnel that its dealers must have on site and

5
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their certifications and training; (9) performance reviews on the dealers’ sales, service, and parts,
customer satisfaction, and even the dealer’s maintenance of its premises and facilities; and (10)
restricting whether and to whom a dealer may sell or transfer its business. /d. As the list goes on,
it is not hard to find that Volkswagen boasts a broad scope of de facto control over its dealerships.
Therefore, the Court is not persuaded by Volkswagen’s argument that Texas law deters it from

exercising control over its dealerships.

2. Defendant’s relationship with the dealerships is conditioned on the dealerships’
continued presence in this District.

Under Texas law, Volkswagen is not permitted to directly sell vehicles to consumers in
this District. Tex. Occ. Code § 2301.476(c) (“[A] manufacturer or distributor may not directly or
indirectly . . . act in the capacity of a franchised or nonfranchised dealer.”). Therefore, the only
way that Volkswagen can sell its vehicles to consumers in this District is through authorized
dealerships that it currently has in the District. As Plaintiff alleges, new Volkswagen vehicles are
available for purchase exclusively through these authorized dealers. Dkt. 22 at 3. Thus, it is not
surprising that Volkswagen imposed stringent restrictions on the locations and ownership transfer
of its authorized dealership in this District: “If Dealer chooses to transfer its principal assets or
change owners, VWo0A has the right to approve the proposed transferees . . . and . . . their premises.
... VWoA will notify Dealer in writing of the approval or disapproval of a proposal by Dealer for

transfer of principal assets or change of owners.” Id. at 15.

3. Defendant represents to the public that it has a place of business in this District.

Under this factor, “[p]otentially relevant inquiries include whether the defendant lists the
alleged place of business on a website, or in a telephone or other directory; or places its name on

a sign associated with or on the building itself.” In re Cray, 871 F.3d at 1363—64. “But the mere

6
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fact that a defendant has advertised that it has a place of business or has even set up an office is
not sufficient; the defendant must actually engage in business from that location.” Id. at 1364.
“Marketing or advertisements also may be relevant, but only to the extent they indicate that the
defendant itself holds out a place for its business.” Id. at 1363.

Volkswagen represents to the public that it has a place of business in the Western District
of Texas. When a user searches for Volkwagen dealerships in the District, Volkswagen’s website
displays a list of its authorized dealerships, allows the user to search for these dealerships’
inventory, and gives the user an opportunity to schedule a test drive. Dkt. 22 at 3—4. Volkswagen
also allows all its dealerships in this District to display the “Volkswagen” or “Audi” logo and use
Volkswagen’s and Audi’s trademarks and tradenames. /d. at 3.

In fact, Volkswagen actually engages in business from the locations of its dealerships in
this District. First, Volkswagen conducts business in this District by distributing Volkswagen
vehicles to its authorized dealers. Second, and more importantly, Volkswagen provides new
purchase warranties to consumers at the dealerships in this District. Dkt. 1 at 5, 4 13; Dkt. 22 at
12-13. Particularly, Plaintiff alleges, and Volkswagen does not deny, that Volkswagen “establishes
the procedures for processing warranty claims and returning and disposing of defective parts” and
“determines the rate or price at which a Volkswagen or Audi dealer will be reimbursed for
services.” Dkt. 22 at 12—13. Under Texas law, that means Volkswagen engages business in the
state. Tex. Occ. Code § 2301.251(c) (“A manufacturer or distributor that directly or indirectly
reimburses another person to perform warranty repair services on a vehicle is engaged in business
in this state regardless of whether the manufacturer sells or offers for sale new motor vehicles in

this state.”).

7
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In its five-page Motion, Volkswagen does not present any persuasive argument on why it
does not ratify its dealerships in this District, other than its conclusory statements that two other
district courts’ rulings are right (because they are in its favor) and a third court’s ruling is wrong
(because it is not in its favor). Dkt. 16 (discussing Blitzsafe; Omega Patents, LLC v. BMW of North
Americaet al., 1:20-cv-01907-SDG, 2020 WL 8184342 (N.D. Ga. December 21, 2020); West View
Research, LLC v. BMW of North America, LLC et al, 16-cv-2590 JLS (AGS), 2018 WL 4367378
(S.D. Cal. February 5, 2018)). Similarly, in its seven pages of rambling in the Reply, cobbled
together with block citations from the West View and Omega cases, Volkswagen does not
effectively refute that Plaintiff’s allegations are insufficient to establish that Volkswagen ratifies
its dealerships in this District.

In view of the above, the Court finds that Volkswagen ratifies the places of business of its
authorized dealerships in this District and those dealerships are therefore “place[s] of the
defendant” under the third Cray requirements.

B. Agents Conducting Defendant’s Business in this District

In In re Google, the Federal Circuit also ruled that “a ‘regular and established place of
business’ requires the regular, physical presence of an employee or other agent of the defendant
conducting the defendant’s business at the alleged ‘place of business.”” In re Google, 949 F.3d at

1345.

L The authorized dealers are Volkswagen’s agents.

“An agency relationship is a ‘fiduciary relationship that arises when one person (a
‘principal”’) manifests assent to another person (an ‘agent’) that the agent shall act on the principal’s
behalf and subject to the principal’s control, and the agent manifests assent or otherwise consents

to act.”” Id. at 1345 (citing Restatement (Third) of Agency § 1.01). “The essential elements of
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agency are (1) the principal’s right to direct or control the agent’s actions, (2) the manifestation of
consent by the principal to the agent that the agent shall act on his behalf, and (3) the consent by
the agent to act.” Id. (citing Meyer v. Holley, 537 U.S. 280, 286 (2003)) (internal quotation marks
omitted). Agency is a fact-dependent relationship. In re MyFord Touch Consumer Litig., 46 F.
Supp. 3d 936, 956 (N.D. Cal. 2014). “While cases generally find that dealership agreements do
not create general principal-agent relationships, it is not—as a matter of law—impossible to find
a specific agency relationship as to matters subject to manufacturer control.” Stevens v. Ford Motor
Co., 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 256298, *17 (S.D. Tex. Nov. 2, 2020).

Volkswagen argues that the dealerships are not Volkswagen’s agents because “[t]hey don’t

29

act ‘on the alleged principal’s behalf.”” Dkt. 41 at 2. However, as discussed above, Volkswagen
exercises a broad scope of control over its authorized dealerships in this District through their
agreements. Among others, Volkswagen requires monthly reports from the dealerships, restricts
the locations and ownership transfers of the dealerships, and provides warranty services to
consumers through the dealers. Indeed, Volkswagen does not deny that it exercises control over
its dealerships; instead, it argues that “control is only one aspects of the test” and the remaining
two elements are not met. Id. at 2. However, the agreements between Volkswagen and its
dealerships clearly show that there is manifestation of consent by Volkswagen to the dealerships
that the dealerships shall act on Volkswagen’s behalf, and the consent by the dealerships to act.
Therefore, the Court finds that Volkswagen’s authorized dealerships in this District are agents of
Volkswagen at least for venue purposes.

In fact, it is not uncommon for a district court to find a principal-agency relationship

between an auto manufacturer and its dealers. For example, the District of New Jersey found that

“the dealer acted as BMWNA'’s agent, or at least that the two acted together.” Morano v. BMW of

9
APPX0009



Cas€8s20-22-008 31-Absunmeydud@nt FBadelekP09/Fi¢rt 1 Pa3e202bf 11

N. Am., LLC, 928 F. Supp. 2d 826, 837-38 (D.N.J. 2013); see also Kent v. Celozzi-Ettleson
Chevrolet, Inc., No. 99 C 2868, 1999 WL 1021044, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 3, 1999) (“While it is
certainly true that the mere fact that Celozzi—Ettleson is an authorized General Motors dealer does
not make it General Motors’ agent, it is equally true that an automobile dealership may under
certain circumstances be an agent of the manufacturer.”). Particularly, the Morano court found that
“BMWNA and the dealer function as an integrated, two-part seller” because BMWNA makes all
of its consumer sales or leases through its authorized dealers and services the vehicles through
BMWNA'’s Warranty or Maintenance Program, while the dealers handle the mechanics of the sale

or lease and the warranty services. Morano, 928 F. Supp. 2d at 837-38.

2. The authorized dealers conduct Volkswagen’s business.

The authorized dealerships are also conducting Volkswagen’s business in this District.
Volkswagen is in the business of manufacturing and distributing vehicles to consumers. As
explained above, the only way that Volkswagen can distribute its vehicles to consumers in this
District is through its authorized dealerships in this District. Further, Volkswagen provides new
purchase warranties and services to the consumers through its dealerships. It establishes the
procedures for processing warranty claims and returning and disposing of defective parts and
requires its dealers to comply with such procedures. Dkt. 22 at 12. It also determines the rate or
price at which a Volkswagen or Audi dealer will be reimbursed for services. /d. at 13. These are
sufficient to establish that Volkswagen conducts business at the dealerships under Texas law. Tex.
Occ. Code § 2301.251(c).

Therefore, the Court finds that the authorized Volkwagen dealerships in this District are

agents of Volkswagen conducting Volkswagen’s business in this District.

10
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IV. CONCLUSION
For the reasons above, the Court finds that Defendant has a “regular and established place
of business” in the Western District of Texas and venue is proper in this District under Section

1400(b). The Court therefore DENIES Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss or Transfer.

SIGNED this 20th day of September, 2021.

Ol e

ALAN D ALBRIGHT .
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDG

11
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

WACO DIVISION
STRATOSAUDIO, INC.,
Plaintiff,
I Case No. 6:20-CV-1131
V.
VOLKSWAGEN GROUP OF AMERICA,
INC.,
Defendant.

DECLARATION OF CHRISTOPHER HAHN IN SUPPORT OF VOLKSWAGEN
GROUP OF AMERICA, INC.’S MOTION TO DISMISS OR TRANSFER FOR
IMPROPER VENUE
I, Christopher Hahn, declare as follows:
1. I hold the position of Director of Real Estate and Facility Services at
Volkswagen Group of America, Inc. (“VWGo0A™).
2. VWGOoA is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the
State of New Jersey.
3. I understand that the Western District of Texas includes the following
counties: Bastrop, Blanco, Burleson, Burnet, Caldwell, Gillespie, Hays, Kimble,
Lampasas, Lee, Llano, Mason, McCulloch, San Saba, Travis, Washington, and
Williamson; Bell, Bosque, Coryell, Falls, Freestone, Hamilton, Hill, Leon,
Limestone, McLennan, Milam, Robertson, and Somervell; El Paso; Atascosa,
Bandera, Bexar, Comal, Dimmit, Frio, Gonzales, Guadalupe, Karnes, Kendall, Kerr,

Medina, Real, and Wilson; Edwards, Kinney, Maverick, Terrell, Uvalde, Val Verde,

and Zavalla; Brewster, Culberson, Jeff Davis, Hudspeth, Loving, Pecos, Presidio,
1
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Reeves, Ward, and Winkler; and Andrews, Crane, Ector, Martin, Midland, and

Upton.

4. VWGoA does not own or lease any real estate in the Western District
of Texas.

5. VWGoA does not have any offices, warehouses, or other places of

business within the Western District of Texas.

6. VWGoA does not have ownership of an inventory of vehicles or parts at
warehouses or other facilities in the Western District of Texas.

7. VWGoA does not regularly employ any personnel stationed in the
Western District of Texas, nor does it create, maintain, or store any documents at any
location in the Western District of Texas.

8. VWGoA does not service or sell vehicles directly to consumers in the
Western District of Texas.

9. Approximately 650 Volkswagen and Audi brand (collectively, “VW-brand™)
VWGoA dealerships are located all around the country. VWGoA’s distribution, marketing,
and support activities reach throughout the country, but VWGoA does not have any special
or unique interactions with the Western District of Texas as compared to any other location
in which VW-brand dealerships are located.

10. The VW-brand dealerships located in the Western District of Texas are owned
and operated by entities independent of VWGoA (and Volkswagen altogether). VWGoA has

no ownership interest in any of the dealerships in the Western District of Texas. In fact, the

2
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state laws of Texas prohibit VWGO0A from owning or operating any dealerships in the state of
Texas.

1. VWGoA maintains a place of business (a customer relations and after sales
support center) in Auburn Hills, Michigan.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

H Digitally signed by Hahn
Hah n Chrlstopher Christopher VWPKI

VWPKI 65A8828DD8682325
Date: 2021.02.17 14:28:15

65A8828DD8682325 Hagy:

Executed on February  , 2021.

Christopher Hahn

3
APPX0021



Case: 22-108 Document: 2-2 Page: 24 Filed: 11/01/2021
APPX0022

Case 6:20-cv-01131-ADA Document 1 Filed 12/11/20 Page 1 of 22

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
WACO DIVISION

STRATOSAUDIO, INC.,
Plaintiff, Case No. 6:20-cv-1131
V. JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP OF AMERICA,
INC.,

w? W W W W W L W W W

Defendant.

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT

This is an action for patent infringement arising under the Patent Laws of the United States
of America, 35 U.S.C. § 1 et seq., in which Plaintiff StratosAudio, Inc. (“Plaintiff” or
“StratosAudio”) makes the following actions against Defendant VVolkswagen Group of America,
Inc. (“Defendant” or “Volkswagen Group™):

INTRODUCTION

1. This complaint arises from Defendant’s unlawful infringement of the following
U.S. Patents owned by StratosAudio, Inc.: U.S. Patent No. 8,166,081; U.S. Patent No. 8,688,028;
U.S. Patent No. 8,903,307; U.S. Patent No. 9,584,843; U.S. Patent No. 8,200,203; U.S. Patent No.
9,294,806; and U.S. Patent No. 9,355,405 (collectively the “Asserted Patents”).

PARTIES

2. StratosAudio is a privately held company incorporated under the laws of Delaware.

StratosAudio was founded in 2001 and is headquartered in Kirkland, Washington.

1
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3. StratosAudio is a pioneer in the field of media enhancement systems, especially as
it relates to interactive advertising, programming, and other data manipulation that enables the
identification of broadcast media content using data transmitted in an associated datastream, the
combination of such streams used in personalized media distribution, with widely applicable
adaptation in commercial media and entertainment systems including vehicle head unit consoles.

4. Based on years of research and development, StratosAudio has created an
international patent portfolio comprising more than seventy (70) issued patents broadly directed
to media enhancement systems.

5. StratosAudio has, over the years, invested millions of dollars innovating and
creating audio media enhancement systems of the type described in StratosAudio’s patents.

6. StratosAudio is partly owned by an individual located in this judicial district in
Temple, Texas. This individual is also a named inventor on a number of the asserted patents.

7. Volkswagen Group is a New Jersey corporation with its principal place of business
in Herndon, Virginia. Volkswagen Group may be served through its registered agent for service
in the State of Texas, Corporation Service Company D/B/A CSC Lawyers Inco., 211 E. 7" Street
Suite 620, Austin, TX 78701. Volkswagen Group is registered to do business in the State of Texas

and has been since at least June 7, 1973.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This action arises under the patent laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C. § 1, et seq.,
including 8 271. This Court has original subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1331
and 1338(a).

9. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because, among other things,
Defendant has done business in this District, and has committed and continues to commit acts of

2
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patent infringement in this District giving rise to this action, and has established minimum contacts
with this forum such that the exercise of jurisdiction over Defendant would not offend traditional
notions of fair play and substantial justice. Defendant, directly and indirectly through subsidiaries
and intermediaries, has committed and continues to commit acts of infringement in this District
by, among other things, making, using, selling, offering to sell, and importing products that
infringe the asserted patents.

10.  Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1400(b) because, among other
things, Defendant has transacted business in this District and has committed acts of infringement
in and has a regular and established place of business in this judicial district. For example, the
Volkswagen Group conducts its business of the exclusive distribution of new Volkswagen and
Audi automobiles to the consuming public in this judicial district through its authorized dealers in
this judicial district, including selling automobiles, directly and/or indirectly, to and through, for
example, Volkswagen of Waco, located at 2301 W. Loop 340, Waco TX, 76712; Onion Creek
Volkswagen, located at 10812 S IH 35 Frontage Road, Austin TX, 78748; Hewlett VVolkswagen,
located at 7951 Hewlett Loop Road, Georgetown, TX, 78626; Audi North Austin, located at 12971
Pond Springs Road, Austin TX 78729-7798, and Audi South Austin, located at 4738 S IH 35
Frontage Road, Austin TX 78745. On information and belief, the VVolkswagen Group’s new
Volkswagen and Audi vehicles are available for purchase through its authorized dealers only, such
as Volkswagen of Waco, Onion Creek Volkswagen, Hewlett VVolkswagen, Audi North Austin, and
Audi South Austin.

11.  The Volkswagen Group’s dealerships in this judicial district are all named with the
“Volkswagen” or “Audi” designation (e.g., Volkswagen of Waco and Audi North Austin). The

Volkswagen and Audi dealerships in this judicial district all prominently display VVolkswagen and
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Audi trademarks, respectively, including the Volkswagen and Audi logos, with no reservations or
disclaimers. The Volkswagen Group authorizes its Volkswagen and Audi dealers in this judicial
district to utilize Volkswagen’s and Audi’s trademarks, trade name, and other intellectual property
associated with the distribution and sale of automobiles and provision of related services.

12. Volkswagen and Audi dealerships in this judicial district are held out to the
consuming public as places of VVolkswagen and Audi, respectively, where the Volkswagen Group,
through its dealers, sells VVolkswagen and Audi cars. Volkswagen’s website (www.vw.com) and
Audi’s website (www.audiusa.com/us/web/en.html) direct users to enter their zip code so that the
websites can display to the website user Volkswagen and Audi vehicles, respectively, available in
inventory in their area, so that Volkswagen and Audi can identify a franchised dealer in their area.
For both Volkswagen and Audi, the user can contact a franchised dealer through the website by
inputting their contact details, or can select to navigate to a franchised dealer in their area. Once
the user selects a franchised dealer website from the Volkswagen or Audi website, the user can
view inventory, view trade-in information, apply for financing, and arrange a test drive at the
franchised Volkswagen and Audi dealerships in their area, including dealerships in this judicial
district. Upon input of zip code information from this judicial district, Volkswagen and Audi name
and ratify their respective dealers in this judicial district, such as Volkswagen of Waco and Audi
North Austin, as their places of business where: 1) the user of a website may test drive its cars; 2)
a website user may review inventory and schedule a test drive at a dealer in this judicial district;
3) it collects customer information and provides that information to its dealers in this judicial
district; Volkswagen and Audi enable website users to solicit quotes to purchase a vehicle from

dealers in this judicial district; and 4) to apply for financing from dealers in this judicial district.
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13. The Volkswagen Group also conducts business through its authorized VVolkswagen
and Audi dealers in this judicial district by providing new purchase warranties and service pursuant
to those warranties to the consuming public. The Volkswagen Group further delegates
maintenance responsive to vehicle safety recalls to its authorized dealers in this judicial district by
informing Volkswagen and Audi owners of the defect and directing Volkswagen and Audi owners
to their respective authorized dealers for repair of the defect.

14.  Volkswagen and Audi also control the sale of automobiles in this judicial district
by, among other items, establishing criteria and certifying vehicles as part of a “Volkswagen
Certified Pre-Owned Vehicles” program or as part of an “Audi Certified Pre-Owned Vehicles”
program. The Volkswagen Group directly controls aspects of employees of its authorized dealers
by training service technicians. The Volkswagen Group also provides direct and indirect financial
input into the operations of its authorized dealers in this district by, on information and belief,
offering vehicle financing through Volkswagen Credit and Audi Financial Services, and by
offering “floor plan” loans directly to its authorized dealers in this judicial district. On information
and belief, The Volkswagen Group further conducts business through its control over the sale
and/or ownership transfer of its authorized dealers in this judicial district, which includes the right
to refuse any transfer of ownership of its authorized dealers, and through its control of specific
geographic areas in which its authorized dealers in this judicial district may operate.

COUNT I - INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘081 PATENT

15.  Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully
set forth herein.
16. Plaintiff is the owner and assignee of all rights, title and interest in and to U.S.

Patent No. 8,166,081 entitled “System and Method for Advertisement Transmission and Display”
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(the ““081 patent”), issued on April 24, 2012. A true and correct copy of the ‘081 patent is attached
hereto as Exhibit 1.

17. Defendant makes, uses, offers for sale, sells, and/or imports into the United States
certain products and services that directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of
equivalents, one or more claims of the ‘081 patent, including but not limited to claims 9-11 and
23, and continue to do so since the issuance of the ‘081 patent. By way of illustrative example,
these infringing products and services include, without limitation, vehicle communication and
entertainment systems with head unit consoles that incorporate or otherwise enable Apple Carplay,
and at least one of the following: HD radio, SiriusXM radio and/or FM radio with RBDS (the
“Accused Consoles™).

18. Defendant has had knowledge of the ‘081 patent from a date no later than the date
of the filing of this Complaint. Defendant has known how the Accused Consoles operate and/or
are used and has known, or has been willfully blind to the fact, that making, using, offering to sell,
and selling the Accused Consoles within the United States, or importing the Accused Consoles
into the United States, would constitute infringement.

19. Defendant has induced, and continues to induce, infringement of one or more
claims of the ‘081 patent by actively encouraging others (including distributors, dealers, and
customers) to use, offer to sell, sell, and import the Accused Consoles. On information and belief
these acts include providing information and instructions supporting sales by others, providing the
Accused Consoles to others, and indemnifying patent infringement within the United States.

20. Defendant has also infringed, and continues to infringe, one or more claims of the
‘081 patent by offering to commercially distribute, commercially distributing, making, and/or

importing the Accused Consoles, which are used in practicing the process, or using the systems,
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of the patent, and constitute a material part of the invention. Defendant knows the articles of the
Accused Consoles to be especially made or especially adapted for use in infringement of the patent,
not a staple article, and not a commodity of commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing use.
Accordingly, Defendant has been, and currently is, contributorily infringing the ‘081 patent in
violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c).

21.  The Accused Consoles satisfy all the claim limitations of one or more claims of the
‘081 patent. For example, Appendix A sets forth in more detail the Accused Consoles and their
operation in Volkswagen and Audi vehicles for a representative claim of the ‘081 patent.

22. By making, using, offering for sale, selling, and/or importing into the United States
the Accused Consoles, Defendant has injured Plaintiff and is liable for infringement of the ‘081
patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271.

23.  As a result of Defendant’s infringement of the ‘081 patent, Plaintiff is entitled to
monetary damages in an amount adequate to compensate for Defendant’s infringement, but in no
event less than a reasonable royalty for the use made of the invention by Defendant, together with
interest and costs fixed by the Court.

24. Defendant’s infringing activities have injured and will continue to injure Plaintiff,
unless and until this Court enters an injunction prohibiting further infringement of the ‘081 patent,
and specifically enjoining further manufacture, sale, use, importation, and/or offers for sale that
come within the scope of the patent claims.

COUNT Il - INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘028 PATENT

25. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully

set forth herein.
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26. Plaintiff is the owner and assignee of all rights, title and interest in and to U.S.
Patent No. 8,688,028 entitled “Broadcast Response System” (the “‘028 patent”), issued on April
1,2014. A true and correct copy of the ‘028 patent is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.

217. Defendant makes, uses, offers for sale, sells, and/or imports into the United States
certain products and services that directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of
equivalents, one or more claims of the ‘028 patent, including but not limited to claims 11, 14-16,
and 18, and continue to do so since the issuance of the ‘028 patent. By way of illustrative example,
these infringing products and services include, without limitation, vehicle communication and
entertainment systems with head unit consoles that incorporate or otherwise enable Apple Carplay
with Apple Music streaming services playing live radio such as Beats 1 and/or Apple Music 1
Radio, HD radio, FM radio with RBDS, or SiriusXM radio with iTunes tagging functionality (the
“Accused Consoles™).

28. Defendant has had knowledge of the ‘028 patent from a date no later than the date
of the filing of this Complaint. Defendant has known how the Accused Consoles operate and/or
are used and has known, or has been willfully blind to the fact, that making, using, offering to sell,
and selling the Accused Consoles within the United States, or importing the Accused Consoles
into the United States, would constitute infringement.

29. Defendant has induced, and continues to induce, infringement of one or more
claims of the ‘028 patent by actively encouraging others (including distributors, dealers, and
customers) to use, offer to sell, sell, and import the Accused Consoles. On information and belief
these acts include providing information and instructions supporting sales by others, providing the

Accused Consoles to others, and indemnifying patent infringement within the United States.
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30. Defendant has also infringed, and continues to infringe, one or more claims of the
‘028 patent by offering to commercially distribute, commercially distributing, making, and/or
importing the Accused Consoles, which are used in practicing the process, or using the systems,
of the patent, and constitute a material part of the invention. Defendant knows the articles of the
Accused Consoles to be especially made or especially adapted for use in infringement of the patent,
not a staple article, and not a commodity of commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing use.
Accordingly, Defendant has been, and currently is, contributorily infringing the ‘028 patent in
violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c).

31 The Accused Consoles satisfy all the claim limitations of one or more claims of the
‘028 patent. For example, Appendix B sets forth in more detail the Accused Consoles and their
operation in Volkswagen and Audi vehicles for a representative claim of the ‘028 patent.

32. By making, using, offering for sale, selling, and/or importing into the United States
the Accused Consoles, Defendant has injured Plaintiff and is liable for infringement of the ‘028
patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271.

33.  As aresult of Defendant’s infringement of the ‘028 patent, Plaintiff is entitled to
monetary damages in an amount adequate to compensate for Defendant’s infringement, but in no
event less than a reasonable royalty for the use made of the invention by Defendant, together with
interest and costs fixed by the Court.

34. Defendant’s infringing activities have injured and will continue to injure Plaintiff,
unless and until this Court enters an injunction prohibiting further infringement of the ‘028 patent,
and specifically enjoining further manufacture, sale, use, importation, and/or offers for sale that
come within the scope of the patent claims.

COUNT 11l — INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘307 PATENT
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35. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully
set forth herein.

36.  Plaintiff is the owner and assignee of all rights, title and interest in and to U.S.
Patent No. 8,903,307 entitled “Broadcast Response System” (the “‘307 patent”), issued on
December 2, 2014. A true and correct copy of the *307 patent is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.

37. Defendant makes, uses, offers for sale, sells, and/or imports into the United States
certain products and services that directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of
equivalents, one or more claims of the 307 patent, including but not limited to claims 11 and 15-
18, and continue to do so since the issuance of the ‘307 patent. By way of illustrative example,
these infringing products and services include, without limitation, vehicle communication and
entertainment systems with head unit consoles that incorporate or otherwise enable Apple Carplay
with Apple Music streaming services playing live radio such as Beats 1 and/or Apple Music 1
Radio, HD radio, FM radio with RBDS, or SiriusXM radio with iTunes tagging functionality (the
“Accused Consoles”).

38. Defendant has had knowledge of the ‘307 patent from a date no later than the date
of the filing of this Complaint. Defendant has known how the Accused Consoles operate and/or
are used and has known, or has been willfully blind to the fact, that making, using, offering to sell,
and selling the Accused Consoles within the United States, or importing the Accused Consoles
into the United States, would constitute infringement.

39. Defendant has induced, and continues to induce, infringement of one or more
claims of the *307 patent by actively encouraging others (including distributors, dealers, and

customers) to use, offer to sell, sell, and import the Accused Consoles. On information and belief
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these acts include providing information and instructions supporting sales by others, providing the
Accused Consoles to others, and indemnifying patent infringement within the United States.

40.  Defendant has also infringed, and continues to infringe, one or more claims of the
307 patent by offering to commercially distribute, commercially distributing, making, and/or
importing the Accused Consoles, which are used in practicing the process, or using the systems,
of the patent, and constitute a material part of the invention. Defendant knows the articles of the
Accused Consoles to be especially made or especially adapted for use in infringement of the patent,
not a staple article, and not a commodity of commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing use.
Accordingly, Defendant has been, and currently is, contributorily infringing the ‘307 patent in
violation of 35 U.S.C. 8 271(c).

41.  The Accused Consoles satisfy all the claim limitations of one or more claims of the
307 patent. For example, Appendix C sets forth in more detail the Accused Consoles and their
operation in Volkswagen and Audi vehicles for a representative claim of the *307 patent.

42. By making, using, offering for sale, selling, and/or importing into the United States
the Accused Consoles, Defendant has injured Plaintiff and is liable for infringement of the ‘307
patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271.

43.  As a result of Defendant’s infringement of the ‘307 patent, Plaintiff is entitled to
monetary damages in an amount adequate to compensate for Defendant’s infringement, but in no
event less than a reasonable royalty for the use made of the invention by Defendant, together with
interest and costs fixed by the Court.

44, Defendant’s infringing activities have injured and will continue to injure Plaintiff,

unless and until this Court enters an injunction prohibiting further infringement of the ‘307 patent,
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and specifically enjoining further manufacture, sale, use, importation, and/or offers for sale that
come within the scope of the patent claims.

COUNT IV — INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘843 PATENT

45, Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully
set forth herein.

46.  Plaintiff is the owner and assignee of all rights, title and interest in and to U.S.
Patent No. 9,584,843 entitled “Systems, Methods, and Devices for Scanning Broadcasts” (the
“*843 patent™), issued on February 28, 2017. A true and correct copy of the 843 patent is attached
hereto as Exhibit 4.

47. Defendant makes, uses, offers for sale, sells, and/or imports into the United States
certain products and services that directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of
equivalents, one or more claims of the ‘843 patent, including but not limited to claims 10, 11, 133,
and 15, and continue to do so since the issuance of the ‘843 patent. By way of illustrative example,
these infringing products and services include, without limitation, vehicle communication and
entertainment systems with head unit consoles that incorporate or otherwise enable Apple Carplay
with Apple Music streaming services playing live radio such as Beats 1 and/or Apple Music 1
Radio, HD radio, FM radio with RBDS, or SiriusXM radio with iTunes tagging functionality (the
“Accused Consoles”).

48. Defendant has had knowledge of the ‘843 patent from a date no later than the date
of the filing of this Complaint. Defendant has known how the Accused Consoles operate and/or
are used and has known, or has been willfully blind to the fact, that making, using, offering to sell,
and selling the Accused Consoles within the United States, or importing the Accused Consoles

into the United States, would constitute infringement.
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49, Defendant has induced, and continues to induce, infringement of one or more
claims of the ‘843 patent by actively encouraging others (including distributors, dealers, and
customers) to use, offer to sell, sell, and import the Accused Consoles. On information and belief
these acts include providing information and instructions supporting sales by others, providing the
Accused Consoles to others, and indemnifying patent infringement within the United States.

50.  Defendant has also infringed, and continues to infringe, one or more claims of the
‘843 patent by offering to commercially distribute, commercially distributing, making, and/or
importing the Accused Consoles, which are used in practicing the process, or using the systems,
of the patent, and constitute a material part of the invention. Defendant knows the articles of the
Accused Consoles to be especially made or especially adapted for use in infringement of the patent,
not a staple article, and not a commodity of commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing use.
Accordingly, Defendant has been, and currently is, contributorily infringing the ‘843 patent in
violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c).

51.  The Accused Consoles satisfy all the claim limitations of one or more claims of the
‘028 patent. For example, Appendix D sets forth in more detail the Accused Consoles and their
operation in Volkswagen and Audi vehicles for a representative claim of the ‘843 patent.

52. By making, using, offering for sale, selling, and/or importing into the United States
the Accused Consoles, Defendant has injured Plaintiff and is liable for infringement of the ‘843
patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271.

53.  As a result of Defendant’s infringement of the ‘843 patent, Plaintiff is entitled to
monetary damages in an amount adequate to compensate for Defendant’s infringement, but in no
event less than a reasonable royalty for the use made of the invention by Defendant, together with

interest and costs fixed by the Court.
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54. Defendant’s infringing activities have injured and will continue to injure Plaintiff,
unless and until this Court enters an injunction prohibiting further infringement of the ‘843 patent,
and specifically enjoining further manufacture, sale, use, importation, and/or offers for sale that
come within the scope of the patent claims.

COUNT V - INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘203 PATENT

55. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully
set forth herein.

56. Plaintiff is the owner and assignee of all rights, title and interest in and to U.S.
Patent No. 8,200,203 entitled “Broadcast Response Method and System” (the “‘203 patent™),
issued on June 12, 2012. A true and correct copy of the ‘203 patent is attached hereto as Exhibit
5.

57. Defendant makes, uses, offers for sale, sells, and/or imports into the United States
certain products and services that directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of
equivalents, one or more claims of the ‘203 patent, including but not limited to claims 43, 47, 48,
51, 52, 55, 56, and 62, and continue to do so since the issuance of the ‘203 patent. By way of
illustrative example, these infringing products and services include, without limitation, vehicle
communication and entertainment systems with head unit consoles that incorporate or otherwise
enable Apple Carplay with Apple Music streaming services playing live radio such as Beats 1
and/or Apple Music 1 Radio, HD radio, FM radio with RBDS or SiriusXM radio with iTunes
tagging functionality (the “Accused Consoles™).

58. Defendant has had knowledge of the ‘203 patent from a date no later than the date
of the filing of this Complaint. Defendant has known how the Accused Consoles operate and/or

are used and has known, or has been willfully blind to the fact, that making, using, offering to sell,
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and selling the Accused Consoles within the United States, or importing the Accused Consoles
into the United States, would constitute infringement.

59. Defendant has induced, and continues to induce, infringement of one or more
claims of the ‘203 patent by actively encouraging others (including distributors, dealers, and
customers) to use, offer to sell, sell, and import the Accused Consoles. On information and belief
these acts include providing information and instructions supporting sales by others, providing the
Accused Consoles to others, and indemnifying patent infringement within the United States.

60. Defendant has also infringed, and continues to infringe, one or more claims of the
‘203 patent by offering to commercially distribute, commercially distributing, making, and/or
importing the Accused Consoles, which are used in practicing the process, or using the systems,
of the patent, and constitute a material part of the invention. Defendant knows the articles of the
Accused Consoles to be especially made or especially adapted for use in infringement of the patent,
not a staple article, and not a commodity of commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing use.
Accordingly, Defendant has been, and currently is, contributorily infringing the ‘203 patent in
violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c).

61.  The Accused Consoles satisfy all the claim limitations of one or more claims of the
‘203 patent. For example, Appendix E sets forth in more detail the Accused Consoles and their
operation in VVolkswagen and Audi vehicles for a representative claim of the ‘203 patent.

62. By making, using, offering for sale, selling, and/or importing into the United States
the Accused Consoles, Defendant has injured Plaintiff and is liable for infringement of the ‘203
patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271.

63.  As a result of Defendant’s infringement of the *203 patent, Plaintiff is entitled to

monetary damages in an amount adequate to compensate for Defendant’s infringement, but in no

15
APPX0036



Case: 22-108 Document: 2-2 Page: 39 Filed: 11/01/2021
APPX0037

Case 6:20-cv-01131-ADA Document1 Filed 12/11/20 Page 16 of 22

event less than a reasonable royalty for the use made of the invention by Defendant, together with
interest and costs fixed by the Court.

64. Defendant’s infringing activities have injured and will continue to injure Plaintiff,
unless and until this Court enters an injunction prohibiting further infringement of the ‘203 patent,
and specifically enjoining further manufacture, sale, use, importation, and/or offers for sale that
come within the scope of the patent claims.

COUNT VI - INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘806 PATENT

65. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully
set forth herein.

66. Plaintiff is the owner and assignee of all rights, title and interest in and to U.S.
Patent No. 9,294,806 entitled “Systems, Methods, and Devices for Scanning Broadcasts” (the
“*806 patent”), issued on March 22, 2016. A true and correct copy of the ‘806 patent is attached
hereto as Exhibit 6.

67. Defendant makes, uses, offers for sale, sells, and/or imports into the United States
certain products and services that directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of
equivalents, one or more claims of the ‘806 patent, including but not limited to claims 5-10 and
13, and continue to do so since the issuance of the ‘806 patent. By way of illustrative example,
these infringing products and services include, without limitation, vehicle communication and
entertainment systems with head unit consoles that incorporate or otherwise enable Apple Carplay
with Apple Music streaming services playing live radio such as Beats 1 and/or Apple Music 1
Radio, HD radio, FM radio with RBDS, or SiriusXM radio with iTunes tagging functionality (the

“Accused Consoles”).
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68. Defendant has had knowledge of the ‘806 patent from a date no later than the date
of the filing of this Complaint. Defendant has known how the Accused Consoles operate and/or
are used and has known, or has been willfully blind to the fact, that making, using, offering to sell,
and selling the Accused Consoles within the United States, or importing the Accused Consoles
into the United States, would constitute infringement.

69. Defendant has induced, and continues to induce, infringement of one or more
claims of the ‘806 patent by actively encouraging others (including distributors, dealers, and
customers) to use, offer to sell, sell, and import the Accused Consoles. On information and belief
these acts include providing information and instructions supporting sales by others, providing the
Accused Consoles to others, and indemnifying patent infringement within the United States.

70.  Defendant has also infringed, and continues to infringe, one or more claims of the
‘806 patent by offering to commercially distribute, commercially distributing, making, and/or
importing the Accused Consoles, which are used in practicing the process, or using the systems,
of the patent, and constitute a material part of the invention. Defendant knows the articles of the
Accused Consoles to be especially made or especially adapted for use in infringement of the patent,
not a staple article, and not a commodity of commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing use.
Accordingly, Defendant has been, and currently is, contributorily infringing the ‘806 patent in
violation of 35 U.S.C. 8 271(c).

71.  The Accused Consoles satisfy all the claim limitations of one or more claims of the
‘203 patent. For example, Appendix F sets forth in more detail the Accused Consoles and their

operation in Volkswagen and Audi vehicles for a representative claim of the ‘806 patent.
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72. By making, using, offering for sale, selling, and/or importing into the United States
the Accused Consoles, Defendant has injured Plaintiff and is liable for infringement of the ‘806
patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271.

73.  As a result of Defendant’s infringement of the ‘806 patent, Plaintiff is entitled to
monetary damages in an amount adequate to compensate for Defendant’s infringement, but in no
event less than a reasonable royalty for the use made of the invention by Defendant, together with
interest and costs fixed by the Court.

74. Defendant’s infringing activities have injured and will continue to injure Plaintiff,
unless and until this Court enters an injunction prohibiting further infringement of the ‘806 patent,
and specifically enjoining further manufacture, sale, use, importation, and/or offers for sale that
come within the scope of the patent claims.

COUNT VII - INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘405 PATENT

75. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully
set forth herein.

76. Plaintiff is the owner and assignee of all rights, title and interest in and to U.S.
Patent No. 9,355,405 entitled “System and Method for Advertisement Transmission and Display”
(the “*405 patent™), issued on May 31, 2016. A true and correct copy of the ‘405 patent is attached
hereto as Exhibit 7.

77. Defendant makes, uses, offers for sale, sells, and/or imports into the United States
certain products and services that directly infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of
equivalents, one or more claims of the *405 patent, including but not limited to claims 12-16, and
continue to do so since the issuance of the ‘405 patent. By way of illustrative example, these

infringing products and services include, without limitation, vehicle communication and
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entertainment systems with head unit consoles that incorporate or otherwise enable Apple Carplay,
and at least one of the following: HD radio, SiriusXM radio and/or FM radio with RBDS (the
“Accused Consoles”).

78. Defendant has had knowledge of the ‘405 patent from a date no later than the date
of the filing of this Complaint. Defendant has known how the Accused Consoles operate and/or
are used and has known, or has been willfully blind to the fact, that making, using, offering to sell,
and selling the Accused Consoles within the United States, or importing the Accused Consoles
into the United States, would constitute infringement.

79. Defendant has induced, and continues to induce, infringement of one or more
claims of the *405 patent by actively encouraging others (including distributors, dealers, and
customers) to use, offer to sell, sell, and import the Accused Consoles. On information and belief
these acts include providing information and instructions supporting sales by others, providing the
Accused Consoles to others, and indemnifying patent infringement within the United States.

80. Defendant has also infringed, and continues to infringe, one or more claims of the
‘405 patent by offering to commercially distribute, commercially distributing, making, and/or
importing the Accused Consoles, which are used in practicing the process, or using the systems,
of the patent, and constitute a material part of the invention. Defendant knows the articles of the
Accused Consoles to be especially made or especially adapted for use in infringement of the patent,
not a staple article, and not a commodity of commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing use.
Accordingly, Defendant has been, and currently is, contributorily infringing the ‘405 patent in

violation of 35 U.S.C. 8 271(c).
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81. The Accused Consoles satisfy all the claim limitations of one or more claims of the
‘405 patent. For example, Appendix G sets forth in more detail the Accused Consoles and their
operation in Volkswagen and Audi vehicles for a representative claim of the ‘405 patent.

82. By making, using, offering for sale, selling, and/or importing into the United States
the Accused Consoles, Defendant has injured Plaintiff and is liable for infringement of the ‘405
patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271.

83.  As a result of Defendant’s infringement of the ‘405 patent, Plaintiff is entitled to
monetary damages in an amount adequate to compensate for Defendant’s infringement, but in no
event less than a reasonable royalty for the use made of the invention by Defendant, together with
interest and costs fixed by the Court.

84. Defendant’s infringing activities have injured and will continue to injure Plaintiff,
unless and until this Court enters an injunction prohibiting further infringement of the ‘405 patent,
and specifically enjoining further manufacture, sale, use, importation, and/or offers for sale that

come within the scope of the patent claims.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, StratosAudio prays for the following relief:

a. a judgment declaring that Defendant infringes any and/or all of the Asserted
Patents;

b. that this Court permanently enjoin Defendant and its officers, directors, agents,
servants, affiliates, divisions, branches, subsidiaries, parents, licensees, successors, and assigns,
and all persons acting in concert or privity with any of them, from further infringement of any

and/or all of the Asserted Patents;

20
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C. an award of damages, enhanced damages, costs, expenses, pre-judgment interest,
and post-judgment interest as to infringement of and and/or all of the Asserted Patents;
d. an order accounting for damages incurred by Plaintiff and to pay supplemental
damages, including without limitation pre-judgment and post-judgment interest;
e. a judgment and order finding that this is an exceptional case within the meaning of
35 U.S.C. § 285 and awarding Plaintiff its reasonable attorney’s fees against Defendant; and
f. such other relief to which it may be entitled in law or equity and which this Court
deems to be just or proper.
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiff, under Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, requests a trial by jury of
any issues so triable by right.
Dated: December 11, 2020 Respectfully submitted,
Is/ Corby R. Vowell
FRIEDMAN, SUDER & COOKE
604 East 4th Street, Suite 200
Fort Worth, TX 76102
817-334-0400

Fax: 817-334-0401
vowell@fsclaw.com

WHITE & CASE LLP

Michael Songer (Pro Hac Vice to be filed)
701 Thirteenth Street, NW

Washington DC, 20005

202.626.3600
michael.songer@whitecase.com

Charles Larsen (Pro Hac Vice to be filed)
75 State Street

Boston, MA 02109

617.979.9300
charles.larsen@whitecase.com
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Ryuk Park (Pro Hac Vice to be filed)

2 Palo Alto Square, 3000 EI Camino Real, #900
Palo Alto, CA 94306

650.213.0300

ryuk.park@whitecase.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
STRATOSAUDIO, INC.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

WACO DIVISION
STRATOSAUDIO INC., )
) Case No. 6:20-CV-01131-ADA
Plaintiff, )
)
V. ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
)
VOLKSWAGEN GROUP OF )
AMERICA, INC,, )
)
Defendant. )
DECLARATION OF RYUK PARK
1. My name is Ryuk Park. I am an attorney at White & Case LLP, counsel of record

for Plaintiff StratosAudio, Inc. in the above-captioned matter.

2. I submit this declaration in support of StratosAudio, Inc.’s Opposition to
Defendant Volkswagen Group of America, Inc.’s Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue,
concurrently filed herewith.

3. I have personal knowledge of the statements set forth in this declaration and, if
called as a witness, would testify competently thereto.

4. Attached as Exhibit A is a true and correct copy of an excerpt from an exhibit
filed in Volkswagen of America, Inc. v. Maverick Auto Group 2, LLC, No. 2:13-cv-00802-JAM-
EFB, ECF No. 1-2 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 24, 2013). The first page of Exhibit A bears the title
“Volkswagen Dealer Agreement.”

5. Attached as Exhibit B is a true and correct copy of another excerpt from the same

exhibit filed in Volkswagen of America, Inc. v. Maverick Auto Group 2, LLC, No. 2:13-cv-
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00802-JAM-EFB, ECF No. 1-2 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 24, 2013). The first page of Exhibit B bears the
title “Volkswagen Dealer Agrement Standard Provisions.”

6. Attached as Exhibit C is a true and correct copy of an excerpt from two exhibits
filed in Volkswagen of America, Inc. v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC No. 1:20-cv-01043, ECF
Nos. 8-6 & 8-7 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 24, 2013). The first page of Exhibit C bears the title “2007
Volkswagen Operating Standards.”

7. Attached as Exhibit D is a true and correct copy of an excerpt from an exhibit
filed in In re Riverside Motor Car, LLC, No. 09-cv-31422-MS, ECF No. 16 (Bankr. D.N.J. Aug.
20, 2009). The first page of Exhibit D bears the title “Audi Dealer Agreement.”

8. Attached as Exhibit E is a true and correct copy of another excerpt from the same
exhibit filed in In re Riverside Motor Car, LLC, No. 09-cv-31422-MS, ECF No. 16 (Bankr.
D.N.J. Aug. 20, 2009). The first page of Exhibit E bears the title “Audi Dealer Agreement
Standard Provisions.”

9. Attached as Exhibit F is a true and correct copy of another excerpt from the same
exhibit filed in In re Riverside Motor Car, LLC, No. 09-cv-31422-MS, ECF No. 16 (Bankr.
D.N.J. Aug. 20, 2009). The first page of Exhibit F bears the title “Audi of America Dealer
Operating Standards.”

//
/1
//
//
//

/1
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10. The table, below, summarizes the titles of each Exhibit:

Exhibit Title

Exhibit A Volkswagen Dealer Agreement

Exhibit B Volkswagen Dealer Agreement Standard Provisions
Exhibit C 2007 Volkswagen Operating Standards

Exhibit D Audi Dealer Agreement

Exhibit E Audi Dealer Agreement Standard Provisions
Exhibit F Audi of America Dealer Operating Standards

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the

foregoing is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

Dated: March 5, 2021 /s Ryuk Park
Ryuk Park
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The parties have executed this Addenduni as of the date Dealer and VWoA
entered into the Agreement for the Dealership at the Fairfield Fac111ty

MAVERICK AUTO GROUP 2 LI.C VOLKSWAGEN OF AMERICA, INC,
ol s by Lo
ahn Hassanally Werner Mersch
Managmg Member Director, Western Region

By: W

Robert H. Kim, General Manager,
Network Operations
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